TGEGKXGF.'9B: 14235'354: 64.'Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN N. PARKER, for himself and others similarly situated,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC13-890

v.

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE CITY PENSION FUND FOR FIREFIGHTERS AND POLICE OFFICERS IN THE CITY OF TAMPA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Review From the District Court of Appeal for the Second District of Florida

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Introduction.

This case is before this Court on a question certified to be of great public importance by the Second District Court of Appeal. *See* [App. 1]¹ Petitioner, John N. Parker, for himself and other retired firefighters and police officers, successfully sued the Respondent pension Board² for benefits wrongly withheld. The trial court awarded prevailing party attorney's fees under chapters 175 and 185, Florida Statutes, which are the chapters regulating municipal firefighter and police pension plans, respectively.

The Second District reversed the statutory attorney's fee award, reasoning that the attorney's fee provisions do not apply where, as here: (1) the firefighter and police pension plan is a "local law plan," which is a plan organized under a local ordinance or special legislative act, and (2) the retirement benefit at issue—labeled the "13th check program"—is an additional retirement benefit over and above the minimum retirement benefits required by chapters 175 and 185.

The Second District recognized that its ruling on the attorney's fee issue was one of great public importance—over 95% of police and firefighters in Florida are

¹ References to this brief's appendix will be to tab number. For example, [App. 1] refers to tab 1 of the appendix.

² "Board" refers to the Board of Trustees of the City Pension Fund for Firefighters and Police Officers in the City of Tampa.

covered by local law pension plans. The court certified the question of whether the prevailing party attorney's fee provisions of the relevant pension statutes are applicable where, as here, the lawsuit asserts a claim for benefits under a local law plan or special act.³ For the reasons stated herein, Petitioner asks this Court to answer the certified question in the affirmative and quash the Second District decision.

Background.

A. The Statutory Scheme Governing Firefighter and Police Pension Funds.

Chapters 175 and 185, respectively, govern firefighter and police officer pension funds. Other than their numbering schemes, the pertinent portions of the chapters are substantially identical. An understanding of these chapters and the legislative mandates therein is critical to resolution of the issue in this case.

The general Florida Retirement System does not cover municipal firefighters and police officers. Instead, a number of options are available to them, all of which are governed by chapters 175 and 185. As the legislative purpose of these

Bd. of Trustees of City Pension Fund for Firefighters & Police Officers in City of Tampa v. Parker, 113 So. 3d 64, 70 (Fla. 2d DCA 2013).

³ The certified question states:

PREVAILING PARTY ARE THE ATTORNEY'S FEES PROVISIONS OF SECTIONS 175.061(5) AND 185.05(5), JUDICIAL FLORIDA STATUTES, APPLICABLE TO PROCEEDINGS TO ENFORCE CLAIMS UNDER LOCAL LAW PLANS OR SPECIAL ACTS?

chapters illustrates, firefighters and police officers are unique and extremely important to our society. They routinely put their lives at risk to ensure the safety of Florida's citizens—so the Legislature has created pension plan requirements for these very special men and women separate and apart from the general state retirement system. Section 175.021(1), Fla. Stat. (2007),⁴ provides:

(1) It is hereby declared by the Legislature that firefighters, as hereinafter described, perform state and municipal functions; that it is their duty to extinguish fires, to protect life, and to protect property at their own risk and peril; that it is their duty to prevent conflagration and to continuously instruct school personnel, public officials, and private citizens in the prevention of fires and fire safety; that they protect both life and property from local emergencies as defined in s. 252.34(3); and that their activities are vital to the public safety. . . . Therefore, the Legislature declares that it is a proper and legitimate state purpose to provide a uniform retirement system for the benefit of firefighters [T]he Legislature hereby determines and declares that the provisions of this act fulfill an important state interest.

(Emphasis added.)

As to police officers, section 185.01(1) likewise provides:

(1) It is hereby found and declared by the Legislature that police officers as hereinafter defined perform both state and municipal functions; that they make arrests for violations of state traffic laws on public highways; that they keep the public peace; that they conserve both life and property; and that their activities are vital to public welfare of this state. Therefore the Legislature declares that it is a proper and legitimate state purpose to provide a uniform retirement system for the benefit of police officers as hereinafter defined and intends, in implementing the provisions of s. 14, Art. X of the State Constitution as they relate to municipal police officers' retirement trust fund systems and plans, that such retirement systems or plans be

⁴ All statutory references are to the 2007 version unless otherwise indicated.

managed, administered, operated, and funded in such manner as to maximize the protection of police officers' retirement trust funds. Therefore, the Legislature hereby determines and declares that the provisions of this act fulfill an important state interest.

(Emphasis added.)

Chapters 175 and 185 grant firefighters and police officers a number of options for the types of retirement plans best suited for their respective municipalities and districts. The two primary options are either a "chapter plan" or a "local law plan." Regardless of the type of plan, however, the duties imposed on those who administer these plans are governed by chapters 175 and 185. First, as section 175.021(2) illustrates, both "chapter plans" and "local law plans" must comply with chapter 175 and 185's mandates:

This chapter hereby establishes, for all municipal and special district pension plans existing now or hereafter under this chapter, <u>including</u> chapter plans and local law plans, minimum benefits and minimum standards for the operation and funding of such plans, hereinafter referred to as firefighters' pension trust funds. The minimum benefits and minimum standards set forth in this chapter may not be diminished by local charter, ordinance, or resolution or by special act of the Legislature, nor may the minimum benefits or minimum standards be reduced or offset by any other local, state, or federal law that may include firefighters in its operation, except as provided under s. 112.65.

(Emphasis added); see also § 185.01(2).

A "chapter plan" is a pension plan that adopts by reference the terms of chapters 175 and 185. Section 175.032(2) defines a chapter plan as follows:

"Chapter plan" means a separate defined benefit pension plan for firefighters which incorporates by reference the provisions of this chapter and has been adopted by the governing body of a municipality or special district. Except as may be specifically authorized in this chapter, provisions of a chapter plan may not differ from the plan provisions set forth in ss. 175.021-175.341 and 175.361-175.401. Actuarial valuations of chapter plans shall be conducted by the division as provided by s. 175.261(1).

See also § 185.02(3).

Section 175.032(11) states a "local law plan" is a pension plan established by ordinance, special district resolution, or special act of the Legislature. *See also* § 185.02(10). Local law plans may vary from chapters 175 and 185, but any such variance must provide a <u>greater benefit</u> for firefighters and police officers. Section 175.032(11) defines local law plans as follows:

"Local law plan" means a defined benefit pension plan for firefighters, or for firefighters or police officers where included, as described in s. 175.351, established by municipal ordinance, special district resolution, or special act of the Legislature, which enactment sets forth all plan provisions. Local law plan provisions may vary from the provisions of this chapter, provided that required minimum benefits and minimum standards are met. Any such variance shall provide a greater benefit for firefighters. Actuarial valuations of local law plans shall be conducted by an enrolled actuary as provided in s. 175.261(2).

(Emphasis added); see also § 185.02(10).

All pension plans created under chapters 175 and 185—regardless of whether they are chapter plans or local law plans—are governed by a "board of trustees." §§ 175.061, 185.05. The statutory framework governing the pension plans and boards of trustees emphasize that the board members' fiduciary responsibilities in administering the plans govern <u>all</u> pension plans. Sections 175.061, 175.071, 185.05, and 185.06—which contain the requirements governing the boards—all begin with an introductory provision similar to the following:

For <u>any</u> municipality, special fire control district, chapter plan, local law municipality, local law special fire control district, or <u>local law</u> <u>plan</u> under this chapter:

§ 175.061 (emphasis added). The sections then specify the makeup of the boards of trustees for local law plans ("The membership of boards of trustees for local law plans shall be as follows:").
§§ 175.061(1)(b), 185.05(1)(b). The sections go on to provide how the boards are elected and how often they must meet.
§§ 175.061(2), (3).

The boards are also subject to the standards set forth in the Florida Protection of Public Employee Retirement Benefits Act, applicable to all governmental retirement systems. *See* § 112.61. Local plans must assure compliance with this act. §§ 175.351(2), 185.35(2). Among a Board member's fiduciary duties is to "discharge his or her duties with respect to a plan solely in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries <u>for the exclusive purpose of providing</u> <u>benefits to participants and their beneficiaries</u> and defraying reasonable expenses of administering the plan." § 112.656(1) (emphasis added). The term "benefit" is also defined in section 112.625(6) for all retirement plans as follows: " 'Pension or retirement benefit' means "<u>any benefit</u>, including a disability benefit, paid to a member or beneficiary of <u>a retirement system or plan</u>" (Emphasis added.)

Chapters 175 and 185 further declare the boards of trustees to be legal entities with the power to sue and be sued regarding lawsuits "of <u>every</u> kind, nature and description":

Each board of trustees shall be a legal entity with, in addition to other powers and responsibilities contained herein, <u>the power to bring and</u> <u>defend lawsuits of every kind, nature, and description</u>.

§ 175.061(4) (emphasis added); see also § 185.05(4).

Immediately following this provision empowering the Board to bring and defend lawsuits of every kind, is the mandatory, prevailing party attorney's fee provision at issue. Sections 175.061(5) and 185.05(5) provide:

In <u>any</u> judicial proceeding . . . <u>brought under or pursuant to the</u> <u>provisions of this chapter</u> [175 or 185 respectively], the <u>prevailing</u> <u>party</u> shall be entitled to recover the costs thereof, together with reasonable attorney's fees.

(Emphasis added.)

The sections go on to provide that <u>no local law plan can alter these</u> <u>provisions</u>. § 175.061(6) ("The provisions of this section may not be altered by a participating municipality or special fire control district operating a chapter plan <u>or</u> <u>local law plan</u> under this chapter."); *see also* § 185.05(7).

The plan at issue in this case was implemented under and is governed by this statutory construct.

B. The Plan At Issue In This Proceeding.

In this case, the pension plan is a "local law plan" (the "Plan") created by the Legislature and entered into between the City of Tampa ("City") and its firefighters and police officers, pursuant to a special act in accordance with chapters 175 and 185. *See* Ch. 01-288, § 1, at 3261, Laws of Florida; [App. 4, 5; V19 3523]⁵

Like most local law plans, the Plan provides greater than benefits for firefighters and police officers. One of those benefits is known as the "13th Check Program." [App. 4; App. 5 at 14-15; V19 3523] The 13th Check Program, which is described in section 27 of the Plan and chapter 2001-288, Laws of Florida, provides a supplemental benefit. [App. 4; App. 5 at 14-15; V19 3523] It gives eligible retired members and surviving spouses a 13th pension check each year, depending on certain conditions being met. *Id*.

The Board is the statutorily created entity given exclusive responsibility for administering the Plan. *See* §§ 175.061, 185.05; [V19 3522-23] Like all firefighter and police pension boards of trustees discussed above, the Board was created, and is governed, by chapter 175 and chapter 185.

Consistent with the provisions set forth above granting the Board the power to defend lawsuits of every kind—and providing for prevailing party attorney's fees—Petitioner filed suit against the Board, claiming he and other members of the

⁵ Record citations refer to the volume and page number of the circuit court record transmitted to the Second District Court of Appeal and this Court.

class were entitled to payment of the 13th Check for the fund fiscal year ending September 30, 2004. [V1 21-49] The Board had refused to pay that check based on its use of an erroneous additional condition, namely that all prior investment losses to the Plan had to be made up before a 13th Check could be issued. [V19 3524] Petitioner argued no such requirement existed in the pension contract creating the 13th Check Program or in any written Board policy regarding the program or the Plan. [V1 25] He also argued such condition was not required by statute or necessary to fund payment of the 13th Check on a "sound actuarial basis" as required—because the only actuarial requirements were the requisite investment return and "cumulative actuarial gains." [V1 25]

Petitioner's lawsuit had the unusual posture of being brought as a class action. [V1 23] Most reported cases addressing suits for benefits under firefighter and police pension plans brought against boards of trustees are for individual benefits.⁶ Because the benefit at issue impacted all eligible firefighters, police officers, and surviving spouses who did not receive the 13th Check, Petitioner brought this as a class action. [V1 22-23]

⁶ See, e.g., Bd. of Trustees of the City of Miami Fire Fighters' & Police Officers' Retirement Trust v. Fernandez, 675 So. 2d 638 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996); Haddix v. City of Panama City, 624 So. 2d 801 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); Terry v. Board of Trustees of the City Pension Fund for Police Officers & Firefighters in the City of Pembroke Pines, 11 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 622b (Fla. 17th Cir. Ct. Apr. 28, 2004).

The underlying circuit court case was filed June 15, 2007. [V1 21-49] The Board responded with a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. [V1 54-67] While the motion to dismiss was pending, the Board undertook an "additional review" of the issues raised in the complaint. [V19 3524] After six months of review the Board reversed its decision, agreed with Petitioner's position, and voted to pay substantially all of the 13th Check for 2004. [V19 3517, 3525] This amounted to a payment in February 2008 of approximately 98% of the principal sum of the 13th Check due or approximately \$7.6 million. [V3 491; V16 2896] However, the Board retained the 2% balance of the principal and refused to pay accrued interest on the \$7.6 million, which together totaled \$2.1 million. [V1 119-20; V8 1370-71, 1380]

Notwithstanding the payments described above, the Board did not withdraw its motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The case went forward, and the circuit court denied the Board's motion to dismiss. [V1 116] The Board then answered, admitting the 13th Check should have been paid, but denying the class was entitled to a declaratory judgment or damages. [V1 117-22] The Board claimed the 13th Check had not been paid because "[t]he [F]und's actuary did not certify that the payment could be made on a sound actuarial basis until recently." [V1 121]

C. The Class Settlement and Stipulated Final Declaratory Judgment.

As the suit proceeded, the circuit court entered an order granting Petitioner's motion for class certification and certifying the class. [V2 243-49] Ultimately, the parties negotiated a settlement agreement and a stipulated final declaratory judgment which provided that each member of the class would be paid the balance of the principal of the 13th Check being held by the Board, plus interest, totaling \$2.1 million. [V3 482-509] The \$2.1 million, together with the \$7.6 million previously paid, represented a 100% recovery for the class under Petitioner's class action suit. The stipulated final declaratory judgment also granted Petitioner the declaratory relief sought, *i.e.*, the proper construction of the actuarial requirements for payment of the 13th Check. [V19 3521-27]

The \$2.1 million was placed in a separate money market account pending the outcome of appellate proceedings. [V3 491; V8 1380] Clearly the \$2.1 million is owed to the class members. The question is whether attorney's fees are to be paid from this money or are to be paid separately by the Board. As noted, chapters 175 and 185 both contain mandatory, prevailing party attorney's fee provisions. *See* §§ 175.061(5), 185.05(5), Fla. Stat.

D. The Attorney's Fee Award.

Despite the mandatory, prevailing party attorney's fees provisions in chapters 175 and 185, the Board denied liability for payment of fees, insisting

instead that such fees had to be paid from the retirees' interest money.⁷ Petitioner filed for partial summary judgment, requesting the trial court find the Board liable for attorney's fees under chapters 175 and 185. [V3 428-81] That motion was granted.⁸ [V4 632-33] Under the court's ruling, the firefighters and police officers were to be made whole and receive 100% of the 13th Check with interest—and, pursuant to the prevailing party attorney's fees provisions in chapters 175 and 185, the Board was liable for attorney's fees. [V4 632-33]

Thereafter, upon receiving extensive testimony and receiving evidence at hearings over the better part of four days as to the amount and entitlement to fees, the trial court entered final judgment in Petitioner's favor for \$1,160,927.28 including prejudgment interest and costs. [V19 3509-20, 3528]⁹

⁷ The Board also alleged Petitioner's counsel engaged in conduct vitiating attorney's fees in this case. [V7 1253-68] After considering extensive argument and evidence regarding the issue, the circuit court found no impropriety whatsoever. [V12 2188] Although the Board raised this issue on appeal, the Second District found it not worthy of mention in its decision.

⁸ The trial court also held fees were recoverable against the Board under the "substantial benefit" doctrine. [V4 633] That decision was reversed by the Second District but is not at issue in this proceeding. *See Parker*, 113 So. 3d at 68-69.

⁹ This award included a contingency fee multiplier [V19 3515-18], which the Second District later upheld in *Parker*. 113 So. 3d at 69-70. The amount of the fees is not at issue in this proceeding.

E. The Board's Appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal.

The Board appealed the attorney's fee judgment to the Second District Court of Appeal. *See Parker*, 113 So. 3d at 66. The Second District acknowledged the mandatory prevailing party attorney's fee provisions in chapters 175 and 185, but concluded that "this case is not governed by chapters 175 and 185." *Parker*, 113 So. 3d at 67. Rather than looking to the statutory provisions governing lawsuits brought by or against pension plan boards of trustees in chapters 175 and 185—in which those attorney's fee provisions are contained—the Second District focused on the benefit at issue. It concluded that, because the 13th Check Program was created by a special law unique to the City's Plan, chapters 175 and 185 and their respective prevailing party attorney's fee provisions did not apply. *Parker*, 113 So. 3d at 67-68.

Accordingly, under the Second District's decision, the prevailing party attorney's fees provisions in chapter 175 and 185 do not apply to judicial proceedings brought against pension plan boards of trustees to enforce benefits provided under local laws, plans, or special acts that are not applicable statewide. *Parker*, 113 So. 3d at 67-68. Nevertheless, recognizing this was a pure question of statutory construction impacting firefighters and police officers throughout the state of Florida, the Second District certified to this Court the question of great

public importance stated in footnote 2 above. *Id.* at 70. This Court accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Chapters 175 and 185 expressly govern actions of the Board, and claims against the Board—including awards of prevailing party attorney's fees regardless of whether the claim is for a benefit required by chapters 175 and 185 or for a greater benefit provided by a local plan adopted pursuant to those chapters. The Second District erred in concluding that chapters 175 and 185 and their prevailing party fee provisions do not apply to proceedings to enforce claims for benefits "unique" to local law plans or special acts.

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