TGEGKXCF."; 1814235''384557."Vj qo cu'F0J cm'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC13-890

JOHN N. PARKER, for himself and others similarly situated,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE CITY PENSION FUND FOR FIREFIGHTERS AND POLICE OFFICERS, IN THE CITY OF TAMPA,

Respondent.

On Review from the District Court of Appeal for the Second District of Florida

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

PATRICK H. GONYEA Fla. Bar No. 55042 **DEMAHY, LABRADOR, DRAKE** 150 Alhambra Cir., PH Coral Gables, Florida 33134 Ph: 305.443.4850 pgonyea@dldlawyers.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision below was narrow and limited to the facts of this case: a Special Law that provided a unique benefit; a Special Law that specifically provided for the ability of the parties to adjust the terms of the contract authorized by the Special Law to comport with chapters 175 and 185, Florida Statutes, if there was a need to do so. Neither the Special Law nor the contract contained any provision for chapter 175 and 185 attorney fees. Nor did the Petitioner's Complaint assert that his claim was brought under chapters 175 and 185. To the contrary, he pled only the silent-as-to-attorney fees Special Law and contract.

Attorney fees are only awardable if authorized by statute or contract. Neither source was present (or pled) here. The court below was correct in applying the common fund theory to the facts and law of this case.

Standard of Review

The standard of review is *de novo*. *Diamond Aircraft Indus*. *v*. *Horowitch*, 107 So. 3d 362, 367 (Fla. 2013).

ARGUMENT

THE SPECIAL LAW WHICH WAS THE BASIS OF THE CLAIM FOR PENSION BENEFITS DOES NOT ENTITLE THE PETITIONER TO ATTORNEYS FEES

A. <u>The Statutes</u>

Section 175.016(5) and 185.05(5) contain the same language: "In any *judicial proceeding* or administrative proceeding under Chapter 120 *brought under or pursuant to the provisions of the chapter,* the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover the costs thereof, together with reasonable attorney's fees." (Emphasis supplied).

The Complaint was brought under Chapter 2001-288, Laws of Florida. That Special Law is attached as Appendix C. The Complaint was also brought under Section 27 of the City of Tampa Firefighters and Police Officers Pension Contract. That contract is attached as Appendix D.

Neither the Special Law nor the contract – the basis for the underlying lawsuit – provide for attorney's fees. Bringing an action "under" (the 175 and 185 standards) or "pursuant to" (the language of the complaint), has meaning. "Under" means "subject to the authority, direction, or supervision of" or "authorized" by. *See* WEBSTER'S ENCYCLOPEDIC UNABRIDGED DICTIONARY OF THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE, Gramercy (Revised ed. 1996); *See also*, BRYAN A. GARNER, A DICTIONARY OF MODERN LEGAL USAGE, 2d ed. (1995). "Pursuant to equals (1) in accordance with; (2) under; (3) as authorized by."

The Special Law leaves no doubt that it is unique, special, self-contained, and dependent upon the City of Tampa subsequently entering a "supplemental contract" for a 13th check:

Section 27. 13TH CHECK PROGRAM – Notwithstanding any other provisions of this contract, and subject to the provisions of this section, the 13th Check Program is a program which authorizes the Board of Trustees to establish and make a supplemental pension distribution pursuant to the following terms and conditions....

Appendix D at 14.

The 13th check program authorized by the Special Law was "contingent upon contractual agreement through the collective bargaining agreement process between the City of Tampa and each of the respective certified bargaining agents for firefighters and police officers." Exhibit C at 5, \P E, § 2. Importantly, the Special Law contained a "Conflict of Laws" section which specifically referenced chapters 175 and 185 and provided for the possibility of addressing the issue presented here – what to do if the Special Law was not in accord with chapters 175 and 185. (D) <u>Conflict of Laws</u> – To the extent that a provision of this section is in conflict with sections 112.60 – 112.67 Florida Statutes, or those provisions of Chapters 175 and 185, Florida Statutes, that apply to local plans established by municipal ordinance or special act, or provisions of Florida Statutes made applicable to pension funds established by special act, or to the extent that any provision of this section would result in the loss of tax exempt status of the pension Fund, the Board of Trustees is hereby delegated the authority to adopt rules changes in this section in order to comply with said laws, which shall have the force of law and shall be considered part of this pension contract.

Id. at \P (D) (emphasis supplied).

The Pension Contract echoes the Special Law. It contains exactly the same language. Appendix D at 15, \P D. Thus it is clear from the respective documents – the Special Law and the Pension Contract – that both recognized the potential for conflict with chapters 175 and 185 and both provided for the ability "to adopt by rules changes" provisions which complied with chapters 175 and 185. No such changes were made. Neither the Special Law nor the Contract provided for attorney fees.

The Second District's application of the rules of statutory construction was correct and consistent with the governing standard:

This Court follows the "American Rule" that attorney's fees may only be awarded by a court pursuant to an entitling statute or an agreement of the parties. *See Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe*, 472 So. 2d 1145, 1148 (Fla. 1985), *modified, Standard Guar. Ins. Co. v. Quanstrom*, 555 So. 2d 828 (Fla. 1990).

A general rule of statutory construction in Florida is that courts should not depart from the unambiguous language of the Statute. *Citizens of State v. Public Serv. Comm'n*, 425 So. 2d 534, 541-42 (Fla. 1982). Moreover, it is also a well-established rule in Florida that "statutes awarding attorney's fees must be strictly construed." *Gershuny v. Martin McFall Messenger Anesthesia Professional Ass'n.* 539 So. 2d 1131, 1132 (Fla. 1989).

Dade County v. Pena, 664 So. 2d 959, 960 (Fla. 1995).

Those principles, applied to the clear language of the Special Law and the subsequent contract authorized by it, compel the conclusion that there was no basis for awarding attorney's fees under chapters 175 and 185. The "well settled rule of statutory construction … that a special statute covering a particular subject matter is controlling over a general statutory provision covering the same and other subjects in general terms" adds cement to the argument. *Adams v. Culver*, 111 So. 2d 665, 667 (Fla. 1959). *McDonald v. State*, 957 So. 2d 605, 610 (Fla. 2007), applied that principle in two sentencing cases but the statutory construction principle is a staple of the law in myriad settings. ²

² "When the same statute contains general and specific provisions on the same subject matter, each must be given its legitimate field and scope of operation. However, when two statutory provisions are in conflict, the specific statute controls over the general statute. Where there is in the same statute a specific provision, and also a general one which in its most comprehensive sense would include matters embraced in the former, the particular provision must control. Thus, a specific statute covering a particular subject always controls over a statute covering the same and other subjects in more general terms." 48A Fla. Jur. 2d *Statutes* §185 (2013).

Here, the Legislature, in the Special Law, not only omitted an attorney's fee provision, it specifically provided that *any* inconsistency with chapters 175 and 185 could be remedied if the parties so chose. They did not. The Court must look at the plain language in deciding this case: the Legislature's Special Act sequestration of chapter 175 and 185 and silence with regard to fees.

> It is well settled that legislative intent is the polestar that guides a court's statutory construction analysis. . . . In determining that intent, we have explained that we look first to the statute's plain meaning.

Knowles v. Beverly Enterprises – Florida, Inc., 898 So. 2d 1, 5 (Fla. 2004). Here the plain meaning is that fees are not encompassed by the Special Law by virtue of the omission of fees, the acknowledgement of the potential for conflict with chapters 175 and 185 and no effort to reconcile that conflict in the contract that was authorized by the Special Law.

B. <u>The Petitioner's Construct Is Unavailing</u>

The Petitioner's construct is simple and superficially appealing. It goes this way: (1) under chapters 175 and 185, a Board of Trustees for police and firefighters' pension funds is mandated; (2) those boards are responsible for administering pension funds created under chapters 175 and 185 or local law plans; (3) the boards can bring and defend lawsuits of every kind; (4) "in any judicial proceeding ... brought under or pursuant to" chapters 175 and 185 the prevailing party is entitled

to attorneys fees; (5) a municipality may not alter the provisions creating the board of trustees and their duties. See Petitioner's Initial Brief at 19-20.

The Petitioner sums up his argument this way: "Thus, under the express statutory language, *any* case brought against a board by firefighters or police officers to recover *any* benefit under a *local law plan* – whether the benefit is 'unique' or not – is brought 'under or pursuant to the provisions of [chapters 175 or 185 respectively]." *Id*. (emphasis in original).

There are several fatal flaws in that submission. First, recognizing that the Complaint was not "brought under or pursuant to" chapters 175 and 185, Petitioner asserts he was "not required to specifically designate or refer to a statutory section to maintain an action under it, so long as the facts, as here, are pleaded to bring the allegations of the complaint within the statute." *Id.* at 20, n. 12. The Petitioner offers *Vance v. Indian Hammock & Riding Club, Ltd.*, 403 So. 2d 1367, 1369 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) but *Vance*, and the case it cites – *City of Lakeland v. Select Tenures, Inc.*, 176 So. 274 (Fla. 1937) – do not carry the weight assigned to them.

Vance held that "plaintiffs were not required to specifically designate or refer to Section 817.41(1) Florida Statutes [unlawful to disseminate any misleading advertisement] in order to maintain an action under it, so long as they pleaded sufficient facts to bring the allegations of the complaint within the statute." *Vance*, 403 So. 2d at 1369. *City of Lakeland* said "it is not necessary to plead the statute if the facts pleaded are sufficient to bring the case within it." *City of Lakeland*, 176 So. at 344.

Here, the Petitioner pled facts that actually decried reliance on chapters 175 and 185, choosing to assert a Special Law fact, and a contract fact – neither of which embraced the chapters:

The decision of the Trustees not to fund the 20. 13th Check for fiscal year ending September 30, 2004 was erroneous and in violation of the Pension Contract and Chapter 2001-288, Laws of Florida. It was based upon an incorrect assumption that all prior investment losses allocable to the Base Plan had to be made up prior to the issuance of a 13th check. This assumption is not contained in the Pension Contract or in any written policy regarding the 13th Check Program or the Fund. This assumption is not required by statute, nor is it required by Section 14, Article 10 of the State Constitution. Moreover, the makeup of prior investment losses is not necessary in order to fund payment of the 13th check on a "sound actuarial basis." In short, there is no requirement in the 13th Check Program of the Pension Contract that all prior investment losses be made up in order for the 13th Check Program to be funded. Rather, there is only the actuarial requirement that the Base Plan have "cumulated actuarial gain."

Exhibit B, at 5.

Not only was the pleading deficient *vis a vis* facts "to bring the complaint within the statute," it was doubly deficient because the issue here is not the facts of the cause of action, it is the claim for attorney's fees. We recognize that the specific statutory or contractual basis for fees need not be pled (*Caufield v. Cantele*, 837 So. 2d 371, 378 (Fla. 2002)). But no case holds that where a lawsuit is brought pursuant

to a statute or contract that *does not* provide for attorney's fees, a complaint's barren request for fees suffices to enable a plaintiff to secure fees *via* a statute never asserted in a complaint that did not plead facts covered by the unstated, unpled, unasserted statute. And, to make the notion of incorporation of chapters 175 and 185 more unavailing, here the Special Law and the contract specifically provided that if those chapters were out of sync and in conflict with the Special Law and the contract, the contracting parties could have cured the conflict. *See*, Exhibit C at 5, ¶ D and Exhibit D at 14.

The Petitioner misstates the holding below when he writes that the Second District decided "that the attorney's fee provisions do not apply to local law plans offering additional benefits" and that the decision means that "no prevailing retired firefighters or police officer would be entitled to attorney's fees in an action brought to enforce a right to additional benefits under a local law plan not available statewide." Petitioner's Initial Brief at 27-28.

The Second District was very careful. Nothing in the decision affects local law plans that exceed chapter plans. The court's extremely narrow focus was on a "unique program, established solely by a special law specific to one jurisdiction. . . ." Appendix A at 67. The Petitioner's effort to broaden the import of the decision, and his understandable emotional assertions (Petitioner's Initial Brief at 28), should not distract the Court from the very limited and circumscribed nature of the decision below and its rationale.

The court cited favorably to a number of chapter 175 and 185 cases that "relate generally to firefighters and police pensions in Florida" (*id.*), and nothing in the decision suggests that actions to enforce additional benefits under local law plans would not have the benefit of chapter 175 and 185 attorney fee provisions.

Indeed, the Petitioner's contention that the "decision will have statewide impact" (Initial Brief at 27) is not so. The Petitioner concedes that "certain" aspects of the Plan – such as the 13th Check – may be unique" (*id.*), but assiduously avoids the critical distinction between this "unique" provision and the "333" (*id.*) local law plans, *none of which* were the product of a Special Law providing both a variable employee contribution and creating a 13th check program with a variable benefit.³

The Petitioner's hyperbolic assertion that the decision below "deprives 95% of municipal firefighters and police officers of their entitlement to prevailing party attorney's fees mandated by chapter 175 and 185 for claims brought for additional benefits provided under local law plans" (Petitioner's Initial Brief at 27) is no

³ See, The Division of Retirement's Summary of Plan Benefits: https://www.rol.frs.state.fl.us/forms/Benefit_Comparison_Chart.pdf. (last visited Sept. 5, 2013).

substitute for a fair reading of the decision below and its adherence to statutory construction principles arising from the Special Law.

CONCLUSION

We recognize that pension statutes are to be liberally construed; that police officers and firefighters are important to our lives; that police officers and firefighters' pensions are earned and well deserved. We recognize that chapters 175 and 185 provide for attorney fees for actions brought under or pursuant to those chapters. We recognize that the Board of Trustees of the City Pension Fund for Firefighters and Police Officers in the City of Tampa has a fiduciary duty to its constituents and that in this case, the actuarial gains obtained for its beneficiaries were sufficient to provide them with a "13th Check" under the Special Law enacted by the Legislature and the ensuing contract authorized by that law.

The Board recognizes its obligations under the Special Law and the contract. But, like the Petitioner, who believed (in his Complaint) that his action was brought under the Special Law and its provided for contract, not pursuant to chapters 175 and 185, the Board's duties included its obligations to abide by the provisions of the Special Law and the contract. Neither provide for attorney fees.

The decision below was correct. It should be affirmed and the certified question narrowed to the facts and law of this case and answered in the negative.

14